IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 95,534

Third _	District Court of Appeal Case no. 97-334
DIOSDA	ADO C. DIAZ and DENNIS HABER, ESQ., Petitioners,
	VS.
RINA COI	HAN DIAZ and LEINOFF & SILVERS, P.A., Respondents
PETITIONER	R HABER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
_	Respectfully submitted,

Helen Ann Hauser Fla. bar no. 353906 DITTMAR & HAUSER Counsel for Petitioner Haber 3250 Mary Street, Suite 400 Coconut Grove, Fl 33133 (305) 442-4333

INTRODUCTION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case, of vital importance to the Bar and the public of this State, asks this Court to settle a conflict among the District Courts of Appeal as to whether a Florida trial court has "inherent power" to impose sanctions upon a litigant's counsel for conduct which is not prohibited by any rule or statute, and is not contemptuous. If any such power is recognized in Florida, this Court must then delineate its limitations—what

type of conduct could justify the exercise of such extraordinary power, what procedural safeguards must be afforded to the attorney, and how can the attorney-client relationship be protected? The Third District affirmed a trial court's order in this divorce case, directly assessing \$40,000 of the wife's attorney fees against the husband and his counsel, jointly and severally, for failing to settle the proceeding at an earlier stage. There was no evidentiary hearing as to the specific issue of whether the attorney acted in "bad faith." There was no specific finding of "bad faith" by counsel, nor of any improper conduct by the husband except for his mere prosecution of the action.

As recited in the final order dissolving the marriage [R 96-515, pp. 431-444], the husband and wife, during an eleven-year marriage with one child, maintained entirely separate finances. The wife, an attorney, voluntarily left her employment [Id., at 431-32]. The wife had a trust consisting of stock in her father's closely-held businesses, which generated income from dividends and distributions. Thus, the wife did not have to work in order to enjoy a very comfortable lifestyle, <u>Id.</u>

The husband stipulated that the wife's trust assets were non-marital, but attempted throughout the litigation to ascertain her net worth, the amount of income generated from the trust, whether any potential income from the stock had been withheld, whether any assets had been invested in such a way that their appreciation could have

become marital property, and whether any income had lost its separate character by becoming commingled with marital funds. The wife never fully disclosed her assets and income. She wrote large checks for "cash," and had no receipts showing whether the money was spent on joint items or personal luxuries [Tr 7/28/95, pp. 224-25]. Her original financial affidavit was highly inaccurate, and an amended one was filed only at the child support hearing [R 96-515, pp. 49-55, 71-67]. She could not explain why, in the prior year, the sum of \$240,000 had flowed into her bank account [Tr 3/14/96, p. 19-20]. The trial court denied the husband's multiple attempts to get income information directly from the trust or the father's businesses.

The husband, although his own income had not diminished during the marriage, sought some form of alimony based upon the parties' established lifestyle [Tr 7/28/95, p. 219; Tr 8/31/95, p. 282; Tr 9/1/95, p. 583]. The parties had a home with expensive china and crystal and original art; they took trips out of the country, and enjoyed dining out [Tr 7/28/95, pp. 40-41, 47-48, 125-26, 214-15]. The wife admitted that she had paid most household bills [Tr 7/28/95, p. 113]. Based on evidence of lifestyle, the husband requested a lump-sum payment to help him purchase a residence [Tr 7/28/95, pp. 22-24]. Even the wife's expert accountant was retained to testify regarding lifestyle [Tr 8/31/95, p. 291], deemed a relevant issue by both parties. It was ultimately shown that the wife was deeply indebted on credit cards [Tr 8/31/95,

p. 276], so that her prosperity was artificial. The large monthly payments she made were interest on "maxed out" accounts [Tr 8/31/95, p. 273]. However, these facts did not come out until late in the case [Tr 3/14/96, p. 20]. Ultimately, the court denied alimony to the husband [R 96-515, p. 437].

The court did, however, recognize that the wife should not receive one-half of the husband's employment benefits. "Had the wife not received what amounted to an annuity she, too, would have been working and earning a benefit and/or pension which could have been offset against the husband's pension benefits," <u>Id.</u>, p. 439. Thus, the judge awarded the wife only 25% of such benefits, which was the basis of the wife's unsuccessful appeal. The court also awarded \$600 per month child support, and medical benefits for the child, <u>Id.</u>, at 441-43.

Subsequently, on March 14, 1996, the trial court held a hearing on both parties' requests for fees and costs, at which each party presented its legal bills. The wife's counsel asserted entitlement to fees pursuant to sections 61.16 and 57.105, Florida Statutes. Both legal argument and testimony was presented on the issues framed. The wife asserted that before commencing litigation, she had offered to stipulate to a divorce decree without asking for any of the husband's benefits, and she sought only \$50 per week in child support. This offer, and later offers with different terms, were rejected [Tr 3/14/96, p. 9]. The wife asserted that refusal to settle constituted

vindictiveness [Tr 3/14/96, p. 10].

The husband, however, testified that the original offer was mailed to him just as the wife left the country, accompanied by no financial disclosure. When the divorce commenced, he did not know what the wife earned or what she spent, except that she spent "a lot." After suit was filed in November of 1994, the husband sought the assistance of attorney Dennis Haber. Obviously, therefore, Haber had no input into the rejection of the original offer. The husband told his attorney that he had "no idea" what the wife's financial position was [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 89-91]. The wife's counsel accused attorney Haber of needlessly trying a meritless case-- but oddly enough, asserted that the husband's co-counsel Charlotte Karlan, a family law specialist who conducted the entire trial [See Transcripts of 7/28/95, 8/31/95, 9/1/95, 12/26/95] was not blameworthy because "she came in late" [Tr 3/14/96, p. 12].

The wife's counsel even accused the husband of deliberately engineering the recusal of a prior judge, thereby delaying the proceedings, by hiring a particular expert who had previously been involved in a case with that judge [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 10, 46]. However, the successor judge made no finding of misconduct as to this recusal. Rather, the judge repeatedly opined that the wife's original offer should have been accepted, since the husband's pension would be at risk if he litigated [Tr 3/14/96, p. 21]. Attorney Haber responded that it was impossible to achieve a fair settlement

without having complete disclosure [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 26, 29]. When the wife made a second, less advantageous pretrial offer, the full picture was still not known, although some discovery had been done [Id., p. 47]. The wife's counsel admitted that there were many matters his client professed not to know at her deposition, and that her first financial affidavit was inaccurate [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 60-62]. The second offer was less than a month after this unsatisfactory and uninformative deposition [Id.]

Attorney Karlan, trial counsel for the husband, testified that good-faith settlement discussions continued during the proceedings, but the original offer from the wife was no longer "on the table," [Tr 12/10/97, p. 72]. She, too, stated that although the wife's stock was not a marital asset, it had to be valued so that the financial issues could be addressed. Without knowing debts and current income, it was impossible to determine whether alimony would be payable [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 104-111].

By the time Haber himself began testifying at the initial fees hearing, the judge had already made up her mind. Instead of allowing him to testify uninterrupted as the wife's counsel had done, the judge peppered Haber with hostile questions such as, "What on earth gave you an indication that this man could be entitled to alimony even if she had an income of \$200,000 a year?" [Tr 3/14/96, pp. 117-18], "How much more did you know when you went to trial?" and "Did you ever figure out what your client had at risk?" <u>Id.</u>, p.118. The fees hearing concluded with the judge stating, "I'm going

to award the wife some attorney's fees...I'm considering awarding a part of these fees against counsel because I think this litigation was totally uncalled for and totally unnecessary, and I don't know who exactly was responsible for carrying it on to this extreme...I am just utterly appalled and very upset at what has happened in this litigation... it is what gives lawyers a bad name..." [Id., pp. 156-57]. Haber answered, "As much as I would like to respond to your position, I am constrained by attorney/client privilege in not doing so," [Id., p. 158].

On May 23, 1996, another hearing was held at which only attorney Karlan appeared for the husband. The parties discussed a modification of the final order [Tr 5/23/96, pp. 1-7]. The wife's counsel also inquired whether there had been a determination on the fees amount in accordance with the oral ruling at the end of the March hearing [Id., pp. 3,8]. The judge stated, "The problem that I had in coming up with the figure is I don't know who was responsible for this litigation in the sense I don't know whether the husband got bad advise [sic] or whether the husband got advise [sic] and didn't want to follow it," Id., p. 10. She then stated that \$40,000 would be a fair amount to assess, out of a gross amount of roughly \$67,000 in fees and \$6,000 in costs claimed by the wife [Id., at 10-11]. She continued, "I'm going to make it a joint and several responsibility of the husband's and... Mr. Haber. The reason is that I can't do it other than that, and I am not entitled to the nature of the

relationship between the two. I don't know what passed between them I don't know how they made this decision to proceed. I know that Mr. Haber has got to assume some of the responsibility because it is so obvious to me that this is a case that never should have been," Id., at 13. Thereafter, at the request of the wife's counsel, the court made a finding that the case had been litigated in "bad faith," but without deciding whether the husband or the attorney was culpable, Id., at 22-23. Haber had not been placed on notice that the Court was about to make this finding and had no opportunity to address it before the oral ruling.

When he learned that fees had been assessed against him personally, without proper notice to him and without his presence, attorney Haber promptly moved for rehearing. At this time, an order drafted by the wife's counsel had been presented to the Court but not executed. On December 10, 1996, Haber appeared, represented by his own separate counsel. Because of the conflict created by the court's ruling, the husband was represented by attorney Karlan. Only legal argument was presented at the December hearing, for two reasons—time constraints, and concerns about attorney-client privilege [Tr 12/10/96, pp. 88, 75-91]. The Court accepted a limited proffer by Haber that his client had already testified or would testify that when these early offers were made, he knew almost nothing about his wife's finances [Tr 12/10/96, pp. 39-40], but Haber felt unable to proffer anything else without violating

his duty to his client. At the outset, the judge stated, "I was disturbed with the way this case was tried...I couldn't figure out why this case took as much time or money or why it was so allegedly complicated," [Id., p. 3]. Because the first offer by the wife was very advantageous, the judge opined, "there is no way that anyone with a knowledge of family law could not have figured out that he couldn't do better accepting the settlement," [Id., p. 4]. She continued, "I don't know who is responsible. I don't know if it was the lawyer. I don't know if it was the client. I don't know whether the lawyer had a responsibility under Sanchez versus Sanchez to come and say to his client, 'No, I am not going to take this position because I don't think it is warranted in the law...' " [Id., p. 6]. The court remarked that the husband's claim for alimony was "a long shot," whereas, if he litigated, the wife would have a claim to the husband's substantial pension that would likely be much greater than any possible alimony [Id., p. 8]. (Ultimately, the wife was awarded only 25% of the pension, and did not succeed in her appeal from that order.)

Attorney Haber's counsel explained, once again, that the husband and his original counsel initially had no idea of the extent of the wife's income or assets, nor their form; and further, that the wife was not forthcoming in discovery [Id., p. 9]. The husband's counsel, Ms. Karlan, explained that lump sum alimony was appropriate because of the disparity in the ability of the two parties to keep up the marital lifestyle,

and that after some discovery was finally obtained, the husband asked for only \$25,000 [Id., pp. 23-24]. The judge responded, "I am looking at this in a global situation. I am looking at it as a lawyer who evaluates it. I am looking...through the eyes of somebody who practices a long time. And one of the questions that...I have to deal with is when you think you know and you're offered a reasonable settlement, do you put it on the line for what you might find out." [Id., p. 30].

Haber's counsel explained that pursuant to Fla. Stat. sec. 57.105, the judge would have to find a complete absence of justiciable issues in order to award fees against an attorney. Even then, the fees assessed could not be joint and several, but at most could be 50/50 against attorney and client [Id., pp. 32-35]. The judge agreed that "No divorce action could ever be a 57.105 because there is always a judiciable [sic] issue ...On its face it is totally not frivolous... that is the way Chapter 61 works..." [Id., pp. 36, 50]. "I realize this isn't a 57.105 case," Id., p. 52. Haber's counsel further argued that there is no right to fees for rejection of a "reasonable" settlement offer, and that section 61.16 contains no provision for an award against counsel.

For the first time, the trial judge explained that her rationale for awarding fees was based upon the inherent power of the court [Id., p. 32], and repeated that the liability should be joint and several because she did not know whom to blame, even though such a ruling meant that Haber and his (now former) client were thereby placed in

such conflict that Haber was obliged to withdraw. Haber's counsel protested that it would be improper "to try to assess the motives of counsel or have counsel and their clients testifying after the case is over why they did what they did. It strikes at the heart of a litigant's right to vigorous representation," <u>Id.</u>, p. 84.

The judge and the parties extensively discussed how they could have this "inherent power" award reviewed on appeal, without committing an invasion of the attorney-client privilege that would prove improper in the event of a reversal. If only entitlement were determined and no final judgment entered, the order would not be reviewable. Haber's counsel explained, "Due to our quandary of attorney/client privilege problems, we can't present testimony on the issue unless there is a complete waiver plus a limitation that opposing counsel cannot use it for any other purposes..." <u>Id.</u>, pp. 86-87. The judge considered entering an order leaving the apportionment to be determined in the future, but feared that it would not constitute a final reviewable order, Id., pp. 88-89. Haber's counsel asked, "Can we reserve our right if the DCA determines that the Court has power to do that to present the testimony as to who did what?" The Court replied, "Yes," [Id., p. 87], and suggested asking the appellate Court to remand the matter for allocation (<u>Id.</u>, p. 91). Ultimately, the trial judge entered an order [R 97-334, pp. 20-23] awarding \$40,000 in fees, plus interest, to be paid to the wife's counsel jointly and severally by the husband and attorney Haber.

The order, essentially unchanged from the one drafted by the wife's counsel prior to this last hearing, recites the terms of the wife's original offer and states that the husband's alimony claim was "dwarfed by the litigation expenses incurred by the parties," had "no basis in law," and "bordered on a 57.105 action." It finds that the Respondent acted in bad faith, but explains, "The court is unaware as to whether Respondent or Respondent's counsel, Dennis Haber, or they jointly caused this senseless and bad faith litigation. There is no way for the Court to make such a determination at this time," <u>Id.</u>

In addition to supporting his former client's argument that no fees could be awarded for a perceived failure to accept a reasonable settlement, attorney Haber contended on appeal that there was no authority whatsoever for an assessment against counsel under these circumstances and, further, that he had been unable to properly defend himself without violating the attorney-client privilege. The Third District's affirmance, at 727 So. 2d 954, recites, "The trial court concluded that at the outset of this case, it should have been obvious that (1)the wife had made a generous and desirable settlement offer, (2) there was no realistic possibility to do better in litigation, and (3) there was a high probability that the husband in litigation would do much worse," even though the court also acknowledges that the alimony claim by the husband was in the "gray area" and that the trial court called it "at best a longshot"

rather than wholly frivolous, <u>Id.</u>, at 956. The Third District then held, "Courts have the inherent power to assess attorneys' fees against counsel for litigating in bad faith," <u>Id.</u> at 958, rejected the attorney's claim that attorney-client privilege prevented him from defending himself, and declined even to remand the matter for hearing. The former husband and attorney Haber filed timely motions for rehearing, certification, and rehearing en banc, supported by an amicus brief from the Family Law Section of the Florida Bar. Specifically, Haber pointed to portions of the transcript which clearly indicated that the trial court and all parties contemplated a full evidentiary hearing in the event of an affirmance. The Third District denied all of these motions, and this petition for further review was timely filed thereafter.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case, Florida must decide whether to allow its trial courts to impose sanctions, including an opposing party's fees, upon counsel and litigants for conduct which is neither unlawful nor contemptuous, but offends some unpublished guideline in a trial judge's mind. While Federal courts have experimented with using "inherent power" of the courts to sanction conduct which Congress has not seen fit to condemn, they recognize that this extraordinary power, if unchecked, threatens our adversarial

system of justice. Thus, Federal courts generally allow the use of "inherent power" sanctions only for outrageous conduct which threatens the integrity of the justice system. They require adequate notice, a hearing, and a finding of actual "bad faith." When disciplining counsel, Federal courts cite their power to control the admission and conduct of the bar practicing before them. Still, there is no evidence that "inherent power" sanctions accomplish anything not available through the rules of civil procedure, Federal fee-shifting statutes, or the contempt power.

In Florida, we have an integrated Bar; individual courts control neither admission nor discipline of counsel. Further, this Court has recognized that entitlement to fees is a substantive matter for the legislature to determine. There are already several rules and statutes which assess fees against a party or attorney who has acted improperly or pursued a frivolous claim. But the Third District in this case held that a trial court could assess the opponent's fees, *jointly and severally*, against a litigant and one of his attorneys, although the claim was not frivolous, no offer-of-judgment statute applied, and there was no finding of misconduct during the litigation. The trial court simply felt that the case should have been settled because it was a "long shot." Thus, the trial court attempted to create a new penalty, punishing litigants and their counsel for daring to exercise their right of access to the courts. While recognizing that attorney-client privilege and his duty of loyalty barred the lawyer from testifying as to what

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