IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 95,534

Diosdado C. Diaz and Dennis Haber, Esquire,

Petitioners,

VS.

Rina Cohan Diaz and Leinoff & Silvers, P.A.,

Respondents.

On review from the Third District Court of Appeal, Case No. 97-334

CONSOLIDATED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS LEINOFF & SILVERS, P.A. AND RINA COHAN DIAZ

> MARKOWITZ, DAVIS, RINGEL & TRUSTY, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent, Leinoff & Silvers, P.A. Two Datran Center, Suite 1225 9130 South Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-5000

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

To date, the Second District Court of Appeal has not definitively addressed the issue. <u>American Bank of Lakeland v. Hooven, 471 So.2d 657</u> (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), is inapplicable to this proceeding. In that case, fees were assessed against a party, and not against counsel. The opinion does not address the inherent authority of the court to enter orders necessary for the administration of justice.

Israel v. Lee, 470 So.2d 861 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), is likewise distinguishable. Israel, supra, dealt with an award of fees in an appeal, decided pursuant to the prevailing party language found in Rule 9.400, Fla.R.App.P. Neither this rule nor that language are applicable to this proceeding. There is no reference anywhere in that opinion to any misconduct or bad faith litigation that occurred in the appellate court. Clearly, Israel, supra, is not applicable to this case.

The First District Court of Appeal is also inconclusive. <u>Miller v. Colonial</u> <u>Baking Co. of Alabama, 402 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)</u>, relied upon by Haber, is inapplicable. There was no finding in that case that the sanctioned attorney had engaged in bad faith or unnecessary litigation. The rule of law announced in that case was merely a general statement describing the "American Rule" on attorney's fees, with no discussion of the numerous exceptions to the rule. The analysis in *Miller, supra*, is too limited to establish that court's position. The Third District Court of Appeal interpreted these cases similarly in *Moakley v. Smallwood, supra, at 287*.

The sanction imposed in this case is completely justified by the record. It is documented and undisputed that the Wife wanted nothing more than to get a divorce and go her own way.⁶ Although she was statutorily entitled to one-half of the active appreciation in the Husband's retirement plans during the marriage⁷, she was willing to walk away with nothing. Further, pursuant to the statutory child support guidelines, the Wife was entitled to over \$800 per month in child support.⁸ All she requested, however, was \$50 per week. She did not want to go through the trauma of a contested divorce, and she did

⁶The Husband's argument that the Wife's failure to disclose her financial condition at the time that the initial offer was conveyed somehow justified the proceedings below is specious. As the trial court observed, all he had to do was send a letter stating that the offer was under consideration pending the receipt of financial disclosure. Instead, the Husband chose to litigate.

⁷The appreciation of these assets due to the Husband's marital labor exceeded \$365,000. [R1. 435-436].

⁸This sum was reduced by the trial court because it expected contributions from the Wife's parents. [T8.605].

not want to expend the funds necessary to pursue all of her legal rights upon dissolution. She just wanted to walk away. But the Husband and his counsel would not allow her that option.

This case represents the model of avoidable, unnecessary, and wasteful litigation. From the inception, there were no justiciable issues. There was no good faith attempt to extend the limits of existing law. No argument was made for modification of existing law. There was never a suggestion that existing law should be overturned. The Husband requested rehabilitative alimony, but offered no rehabilitative plan. He requested permanent alimony, but showed no need for spousal support, and no ability on the part of the Wife to pay. He requested \$25,000 in lump sum alimony, but ultimately spent approximately \$45,000 and cost the parties cumulatively over \$100,000 in fees and costs seeking that award. Does it make any realistic economic sense whatsoever for the Husband to cash in a \$40,000 retirement plan in order to pursue a baseless claim for \$25,000? Can this be classified as anything other than frivolous litigation? Is the trial court powerless when presented with that evidence?

This was litigation for the sake of engaging in litigation, and appears to be little more than an attempt by counsel to earn a fee. Indeed, as the trial court properly stated over and over again, even if the Husband were to somehow prevail on his alimony claim, he would have been giving up--and, indeed, did give up--far more than he could have gained. He was risking nearly \$200,000 in assets, plus the payment of increased child support and the expenditure of additional attorneys' fees, for a minuscule chance to prevail on what ultimately became--post-trial--a request for \$25,000 in lump sum alimony. Whether viewed in 20/20 hindsight at the end of the case or at the inception of the proceedings, the conclusion is inescapable. This litigation should never have occurred. Unfortunately, it did occur.

Whether the Husband or his counsel bears greater responsibility for the outrageous conduct of this case may never be known. In truth, it does not really matter. The Husband's attorney has a responsibility to counsel the Husband, and to withdraw if the Husband insists upon pursuing frivolous litigation. There was, apparently, a total dereliction of that duty. There is no evidence in the record to suggest that this duty was even minimally discharged.

40

Rather, the record shows that counsel sought and obtained numerous continuances; engineered the disqualification of the predecessor trial court judge; and at all times failed or refused to transmit a counter-proposal to the Wife's settlement overtures. This case was conducted by the Husband and his counsel in a manner totally repugnant to the admonitions in *Wrona*. Only the Husband's counsel, however, can be expected to have read *Wrona* prior to embarking upon this strategy. Accordingly, until an alternate factual basis is demonstrated, the trial court properly held the Husband and his counsel jointly and severally liable for the unnecessary fees and costs incurred in this proceeding.

Apparently, the Florida Legislature agreed wholeheartedly with the analysis of the Third District Court of Appeal. <u>Effective October, 1999, Florida</u> <u>Stat. §57.105</u>, now closely parallels that court's holding in this case. That statute now provides:

(1) Upon the court's initiative or motion of any party, the court shall award a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid to the prevailing party in equal amounts by the losing party and the losing party's attorney on any claim or defense at any time during a civil proceeding or action in which the court finds that the losing party or the losing party's attorney knew or should have known that a claim or defense when initially presented to the court or at any time before trial: (a) Was not supported by the material facts necessary to establish the claim or defense; or

(b) Would not be supported by the application of then-existing law to those material facts.

However, the losing party's attorney is not personally responsible if he or she has acted in good faith, based on the representations of his or her client as to the existence of those material facts....

Application of that statute to these facts would have resulted in the same

outcome as the trial court's sanction through the use of its inherent powers.

As the trial court found, on ample evidence, there was no basis for the

Husband's claims. The proceeding was frivolous from the beginning. It was

avoidable, unnecessary, and wasteful. Florida courts should properly

sanction counsel who engage in that conduct.

B. Imposition of sanctions against counsel in this case is consistent with Federal and State law decisions.

The leading authority on inherent powers is <u>Roadway Express, Inc. v.</u> <u>Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 100 S.Ct. 2455, 65 L.Ed.2d 488 (U.S. 1980)</u>. In that case, the United States Supreme Court described the inherent powers of federal courts as those which "are necessary to the exercise of all others." The most prominent of these is the contempt sanction, "which a judge must have and exercise in protecting the due and orderly administration of justice and in maintaining the authority and dignity of the court." <u>447 U.S., at 764,</u> <u>100 S.Ct., at 2463</u>. The Court further explained that in narrowly defined circumstances federal courts have inherent authority to assess attorney's fees against counsel in response to abusive litigation practices. <u>447 U.S., at 765,</u> 100 S.Ct., at 2463.

Further, the Court recognized that the power of a court over members of its bar is at least as great as it is over litigants. If a court may tax counsel fees against a party who has litigated in bad faith, it certainly may assess those expenses against counsel who willfully abuse the judicial process. <u>447</u> U.S., at 766, 100 S.Ct., at 2464.

As the Court explained, the bad-faith exception for the award of attorney's fees is not restricted to cases where the action is filed in bad faith. Bad faith may be found not only in the actions which led to the lawsuit, but also in the conduct of the litigation. <u>Id.</u> That is precisely what happened in this case.

The Supreme Court revisited the inherent powers doctrine in <u>Chambers</u> <u>v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 111 S.Ct. 2123, 115 L.Ed.2d 27 (1991)</u>. In that case, the Court explained that certain implied powers must necessarily result

from the nature of their institution, powers which cannot be dispensed with in a Court because they are necessary to the exercise of all others. For this reason, Courts of justice are universally acknowledged to be vested, by their very creation, with power to impose silence, respect, and decorum, in their presence, and submission to their lawful mandates. These powers are governed not by rule or statute, but by the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases. <u>501 U.S. 32, 23, 111 S.Ct. 2123, 2132</u>.

The Court cautioned that because of their potency, inherent powers must be exercised with restraint and discretion. A primary aspect of that discretion is the ability to fashion an appropriate sanction for conduct which abuses the judicial process. Outright dismissal of a lawsuit is a particularly severe sanction, yet it is within the court's discretion. Consequently, the less severe sanction of an assessment of attorney's fees is undoubtedly within a court's inherent powers as well. <u>501 U.S. 32, 45, 111 S.Ct. 2123, 2133</u>.

While it is certainly true that some states have declined to adopt the bad faith exception as an inherent power, there appear to be more states that have adopted that rule. Indeed, in <u>Johnston v. Arbitrium (Cayman Islands)</u>

<u>Handels AG, 720 A.2d 542 (Del. 1998)</u>, the Supreme Court of Delaware affirmed a fee award of over \$1.6 million dollars based upon the bad faith exception to the American Rule.

In <u>CFM of Connecticut, Inc. v. Chowdhury, 685 A.2d 1108 (Conn. 1996)</u>, the Supreme Court of Connecticut reaffirmed its adherence to the bad faith exception to the American Rule, and the application of that exception to counsel engaging in bad faith litigation.

Likewise, in *New Mexico State Highway and Transportation Dept. v. Baca*, 896 P.2d (N.M. 1995), the Supreme Court of New Mexico recognized that both trial and appellate courts must have inherent authority to impose a variety of sanctions on both litigants attorneys in order to regulate their docket, promote judicial efficiency, and deter frivolous filings. <u>*Id.*</u>, at 1151. The court upheld the right of a trial court to award attorney's fees in order to vindicate its judicial authority and compensate the prevailing party for expenses incurred as a result of frivolous or vexatious litigation. <u>*Id.*</u>, at 1152.

Similarly, in <u>Wilson v. Henkle, 724 P.2d 1069 (Wash.App. 1986)</u>, a Washington appellate court held that a Washington court has the inherent power to assess the litigation expenses, including attorney fees, against an

attorney for bad-faith litigation conduct. <u>Id., at 1077</u>. The court recognized that the trial court did not have authority to conduct disciplinary proceedings, but nonetheless had the authority and duty to see to the ethical conduct of the attorneys practicing before it. <u>Id.</u>

These decisions demonstrate that the trial court's order in this case is entirely consistent with the treatment of this issue in federal and state courts throughout the United States. Frivolous litigation is subject to sanctions. Sanctions include an award of attorney's fees, and that award may be entered against counsel for the litigious party.

Finally, it is appropriate to enter the sanctions in the case from which the misconduct emanates. One of the purposes for sanctions is to make the offended party whole. That result cannot be guaranteed in bar disciplinary proceeding. Moreover, that relief, if it comes at all, may be too late for the offended party. Further, the offended party has no standing in a disciplinary proceeding. The aggrieved party is reduced to the status of mere witness. Clearly, it is far more efficient and fair to all parties that the sanctions be entered in the court and case where the frivolous litigation occurred, and by the judge who witnessed first hand the conduct giving rise to the sanctions.

III. THE PROCEEDINGS COMPORTED WITH DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS.

Haber's claim that the proceedings in the trial court did not provide him with due process of law is entirely fraudulent. The trial court provided Haber with ample notice and at least two separate opportunities to be heard. As a tactical matter, he chose to avail himself of neither.

The Wife filed a motion requesting fees and costs pursuant to both <u>Florida Stat. §61.16</u> and <u>Florida Stat. §57.105</u>. That motion provided notice to Haber that an award of fees could be entered against him, personally. The version of <u>Florida Stat. §57.105</u> in effect at the time of the hearing specified that "The court shall award a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid to the prevailing party in equal amounts by the losing party and the losing party's attorney..." <u>Florida Stat. §57.105 (1995)</u>. When Haber walked into that first hearing on fees and costs, he was already on notice that an award of fees could be entered against him.

At the conclusion of that March 14, 1996 hearing, the court specifically advised Haber that it was considering entering an award of fees against him based upon his conduct in the proceedings. The court stated:

47

I'm considering awarding a part of these fees against counsel because I think this litigation was totally uncalled for, and totally unnecessary, and I don't know exactly who was responsible for carrying it on to this extreme... [T7.156].

Haber received notice from the Wife, and from the Court. Any suggestion that he was never on notice that an award of fees could be entered against him is fallacious.

The court did not enter an order after that hearing. Instead, it scheduled another hearing on May 23, 1996. *Haber did not attend that hearing.* At the conclusion of that hearing, the court announced its findings and the substance of its order. But the court still did not enter an actual written order.

Nonetheless, Haber filed a motion for rehearing. The matter was not addressed again until December, 1996. Still, no written order had been entered. On December 10, 1996, the court considered the motion for rehearing. Haber was provided an opportunity to be heard, but he instead relied on the attorney-client privilege as a defense. Haber maintained the position that he could not exculpate himself because he was constrained by the attorney-client privilege. At no time prior to or during that hearing did he ever request an in camera hearing, a hearing before a special master or other judicial official, or otherwise propose any means whatsoever to present his

48

testimony to the court. Instead, he maintained the position that because he could not divulge attorney-client confidences, no sanctions could be entered against him. That was the extent of his defense.

It was only after providing Haber two opportunities to be heard and nearly ten months of notice that an award of fees could be entered against him, that the court finally entered the order under review. During all of this time, Haber never once requested an opportunity to testify, whether by proffer, by sealed affidavit, in an ex parte proceeding, or otherwise. Accordingly, any alleged errors in the procedures utilized by the trial court were not preserved for review.

Due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard. It does not require that the party take advantage of the opportunity to be heard. *Florida Bar v. Carricarte*, 733 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1999); *Florida Bar v. Daniel*, 626 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1993). Haber can make no credible claim that he was denied due process in this proceeding. The sanctions were properly imposed, and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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